
Northbrook Public Library Board Meeting 
September 21, 2023 | 7:30 p.m. 

Northbrook Public Library | Pollak AB 
https://youtube.com/live/zCYWx-PSQa0?feature=share 

Regular Monthly Meeting Agenda 
 

1 Call Regular Meeting to Order  Mr. Jay Glaubinger 
 

2 Board of Trustees Roll Call  Ms. Jennifer McGee 
 

3 Consent Agenda  Mr. Jay Glaubinger 
3.1 Approval of the Agenda  

3.2 Approve Regular and Executive Session Minutes  August 17, 2023 

3.3 Approve Cash Balances & Income Statement August 2023 

3.4 Approve Bills and Charges from August 2023 in the amount of $814,720.61 

3.5 Approve 2024 Closing Schedule  

3.6 Approve Vacation and Association Membership Employee Handbook Updates  

3.7 Approve LIMRiCC Intergovernmental Agreement Update 

 

4 Public Comments 
Community members wishing to respectfully share thoughts about any matter concerning the 
Northbrook Public Library may do so during Public Comments as outlined in the Public Comment 
Policy. The Board will not immediately respond to public comments or engage in open dialogue 
due to time constraints, but we are of course actively listening to your thoughts, comments, and 
suggestions. If follow-up communication is necessary, a staff member will contact you following the 

meeting.   Thank you for your understanding of these guidelines. 
 

5 Staff Reports  Ms. Kate Hall 
 

6 Board Member Reports  
 

7 Unfinished Business 
7.1 Strategic Plan Project Update  
7.2 Lily Zheng EDI Project Update 
7.3 Book Sanctuary in Northbrook Resolution  
 

8 New Business 
8.1 FY24 Tax Levy Draft 
8.2 Class 6B 3075-3085 Commercial Avenue Request 
8.3 Staff Questions for Board  

 
9 Closed Session 

9.1 Trustee Vacancy Appointment   

9.2 HVAC Chiller  

9.3 Library Safety & Security Update 

9.4 Executive Director Review   
 
Pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2(c)1 The appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, 
performance, or dismissal of specific employees of the public body or legal counsel for the public 
body, including hearing testimony on a complaint lodged against an employee of the public body 
or against legal counsel for the public body to determine its validity;   

Page 1 of 191

https://youtube.com/live/zCYWx-PSQa0?feature=share
https://www.northbrook.info/sites/default/files/policies/200%20Compiled%20Board%20Policies.pdf
https://www.northbrook.info/sites/default/files/policies/200%20Compiled%20Board%20Policies.pdf


 
5 ILCS 120/2(c)3 The selection of a person to fill a public office, as defined in this Act, including a 
vacancy in a public office when the public body is given power to appoint under law or ordinance, 
or the discipline, performance, or removal of the occupant of a public office, when the public body 
is given power to remove the occupant under law or ordinance; and 
 
5 ILCS 120/2(c)8 Security procedures, school building safety and security, and the use of personnel 
and equipment to respond to an actual, a threatened, or a reasonably potential danger to the safety 
of employees, students, staff, the public, or public property. 
 
5 ILCS 120/2(c)11 Litigation, when an action against, affecting or on behalf of the particular public 
body has been filed and is pending before a court or administrative tribunal, or when the public 
body finds that an action is probable or imminent, in which case the basis for the finding shall be 
recorded and entered into the minutes of the closed meeting. 
 

10 Agenda Building  

 

11 Adjourn 
 

 
Final Vote or action may be taken at the meeting on any agenda item subject matter listed above, 
unless the agenda item specifically states otherwise.  
 
The Northbrook Public Library is subject to the Requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend any meetings of the Board and who require 
certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who 
have questions regarding the accessibility of these meetings or the facilities are requested contact 847-
272-7074 promptly to allow the Northbrook Public Library to make reasonable accommodations for 
those persons.  Hearing impaired individuals may establish TDD contact by calling 847-272-7074. 

Page 2 of 191



NORTHBROOK PUBLIC LIBRARY
CASH BALANCES

8/31/2023

0 eratin

General

Restricted

IMRF
Fica

Total Operating

Ca ital Im rovement

Debt Service

Beginning
Balance

8,478, 190.07
342, 187.30
785,246.82
130,399.01

Cash Receipts Expenditures

290,068.18
54,262.45

4,838.65
3,290.28

689,397.91
34, 213. 81
34, 160.96
34,290.93

Ending
Balance

8, 078, 860. 34
362,235.94
755,924.51

99,398.36
$ 9,736, 023.20 $ 352, 459. 56 $ 792, 063. 61 $ 9, 296, 419. 15

$ 4, 780,686.50 $ 2, 620.43 $ 22, 657.00 $ 4, 760, 649. 93

$ 8,263.40 $ 8,263.40

Cash Detail

NB&T - Checking
PayPal

FBofHP
Fifth Third - Checking/Money Market

US Bancorp
Petty Cash

Total

Operating
459,308.22

1,408.00
232,864.15

8,601, 671.05
692.73
475.00

$ 9,296,419.15

Capital
Improvement Debt Service

6, 166.70 8,263.40

4,753,946.25
536.98

$4,760,649.93 $ 8,263.40

NB&T = Northbrook Bank & Trust
FBofHP - First Bank of Highland Park
USB = US Bancorp

Page 3 of 191



01 - General Operating Fund
Revenues

Undesignated Revenue
Property Tax Levy
Replacement Tax
Impact Fees
Fines, Fees & Rentals
Interest Income

Other Income

Total Undesignated Revenue

Designated Revenue
Gifts & Other Designated Income
Designated Interest Income

Total Designated Revenue

Total Revenues

Expenses
Undesignated Expenses

Materials & Services

Books

Audiovisual

Videos/DVDs
Programs
OCLC
CCS Shared Costs

Total Materials & Sen/ices
\

Human Resources

General Salaries and Wages
Maintenance Salaries & Wages
Group Insurance
Unemployment/Worker's Comp
Staff Development

Total Human Resources

Northbrook Public Library
Income Statement

PY Month

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

$4, 073. 97
$2,509.02

$539. 59
$7, 122. 58

$600. 46
$67. 32

$667. 78

$7,790.36

$67, 883. 38
$60,230.55

$3, 639. 48
$4, 013. 35
$4,959.41
$1, 127.28

$0.00
$73,970.07

$312, 788. 92
$13, 400. 84
$57, 220. 41

$0.00
$3, 474. 12

$386, 884. 29

8/31/23
CY Month

$90, 725. 22
$169,846.05

$0.00
$3, 396. 91
$6,494.23
$8,853.52

$279,315.93

$55, 238. 12
$774.33

$56,012.45

$335, 328. 38

$54, 157. 79
$46, 362. 15

$3, 722. 84
$4,072.80
$3, 279. 59
$6, 920. 23

$18, 676. 10
$83, 033. 71

$440, 181. 77
$20, 250. 45
$70, 212. 45

$0. 00
$9,483.26

$540, 127. 93

PYYTD

$3,951,821.11
$0.00

$5,235.47
$19, 170.72

$4,409.98
$12,286.42

$3, 992, 923. 70

$122, 114.61
$225. 75

$122, 340. 36

$4. 115,264.06

$286,985.90
$260,267.36

$11,961.49
$14,757.05
$25, 498. 52
$10,245.92
$32,659.77

$355, 390. 11

$1,237, 170. 30
$52,418.87

$221, 454. 93
$18, 343. 17
$15, 378. 07

$1, 544, 765. 34

CYYTD

$4, 101, 613. 62
$169, 846. 05

$1, 356. 00
$20, 610. 79
$22, 703. 47
$13, 180.08

$4, 329, 310. 01

$408, 938. 40
$2,587.44

$411, 525. 84

$4, 740, 835. 85

$324, 256. 87
$295, 358. 45

$15, 688. 73
$13, 209. 69
$31, 137. 65
$10,318.93
$31, 693. 25

$397, 406. 70

$1, 391, 848. 66
$64, 144. 20

$235,107. 18
$18,471. 57
$19,812.83

$1, 729, 384. 44

CY Budget

$7, 959, 560. 00
$150,000.00

$0.00
$35, 000. 00
$20,000.00

$100,000.00
$8, 264, 560. 00

$400, 000. 00
$0.00

$400, 000. 00

$8,664, 560. 00

$944, 000. 00

$103, 150. 00
$29,000.00
$76, 000. 00

$1, 152, 150. 00

$4, 311, 000. 00
$189,000.00
$750,000.00

$23, 000. 00
$61, 000. 00

$5, 334, 000. 00

33%

51. 53%
113. 23%

0. 00%
58.89%

113.52%
13. 18%
52. 38%

102.23%
0. 00%

102.88%

54. 72%

34. 35%

30. 19%
35.58%
41.70%
34.49%

32. 29%
33. 94%
31. 35%
80.31%
32. 48%
32.42%

Page 4 of 191



Operating Costs
Photocopy
Office & Library Supplies
Software

Postage
General Insurance

Telephone/lnternet
Professional Services

Furniture, Equipment
Equipment Rental & Maintenance
Community Relations

Total Operating Costs

Maintenance

Vehicle Expense
Janitorial Supplies
Utilities

Building Repairs
Contracted Services

Total Maintenance

Other Expenses
Recruiting
Contingency & Misc Exp
Board Development

Total Other Expenses

Total Undesignated Expenses

Designated Expenses
Miscellaneous Designated Expenses
Designated Materials Expense
Designated Capital Expense
Designated Program Expense

Total Designated Expenses

Transfers & Other Financing Uses
Transfer to CIF
Transfer to Debt Service
Total Transfers & Other Financing Uses

Total Expenses

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Northbrook Public Library
Income Statement

PY Month

$765. 00
$3, 811. 79
$8, 908. 18

$426.73
$0. 00
$6. 00

$35, 041. 60
$34, 660. 38

$39. 99
$7, 118. 37

$90,778.04

$95.38
$2,050. 43

$546. 10
$0.00

$18,581.14
$21, 273. 05

$0.00
$3,046.23

$0. 00
$3, 046. 23

$575, 951. 68

$106. 65
$13. 69

$0. 00
$2, 506. 40
$2, 626. 74

$0.00
$0. 00
$0.00

$578, 578. 42

($570, 788. 06)

8/31/23
CY Month

$765.00
$2,805.57
$7, 942. 43
$1, 184.24

$0. 00
$0. 00

$28, 895. 02
$3,365.39
$1,020. 00
$2, 100. 03

$48,077.68

$0.00
$851. 23

$5,435.44
$0.00

$9, 064. 25
$15, 350. 92

$0. 00
$708. 59

$0.00
$708.59

$687, 298. 83

$23, 768. 83
$79. 10

$0. 00
$12, 115. 88
$35, 963. 81

$0. 00
$0.00
$0.00

$723, 262. 64

($387,934.26)

PYYTD

$13,390.91
$21, 946. 42
$40, 008. 32
$16, 110. 54
$57,021.56
$19, 119. 28

$132, 217. 46
$38, 014. 68
$27, 531. 58
$13,961.52

$379,322.27

$160. 38
$9,844.21
$7, 429. 44

$14, 122. 66
$50, 996. 80
$82, 553. 49

$200. 00
$4, 124. 72

$0.00
$4, 324. 72

$2,366,355.93

$93, 909. 62
$561. 50

$0. 00
$46, 832. 63

$141, 303. 75

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

$2, 507, 659. 68

$1,607, 604. 38

CYYTD

$9, 353. 99
$12, 146. 97
$58, 875. 49
$16, 304. 59
$60, 787, 62
$17, 900. 04

$138, 820. 68
$56, 062. 22
$29, 240. 42
$12, 465. 08

$411, 957. 10

$98. 48
$14, 142. 59
$12, 064. 71

$1,050.00
$44, 073. 56
$71, 429. 34

($200. 00)
$2,851.15

$0.00
$2, 651. 15

$2, 612, 828. 73

$339, 869. 33
$334.73

$1, 129. 96
$42,414.48

$383, 748. 50

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

$2, 996, 577. 23

$1.744. 258. 62

CY Budget

$24, 000. 00
$70, 000. 00

$108,000.00
$20, 000. 00
$79, 000. 00
$39, 000. 00

$402,000.00
$96, 000. 00
$43, 000. 00
$55, 000. 00

$936,000.00

$3,000.00
$45, 000. 00
$54,000.00
$35,000.00

$153, 000. 00
$290, 000. 00

$1, 000. 00
$100, 000. 00

$500. 00
$101, 500. 00

$7,813,650.00

$400,000.00
$0. 00
$0. 00
$0. 00

$400, 000. 00

$425, 000. 00
$25,000.00

$450, 000. 00

$8,663, 650. 00

).00

33%

38.98%
17. 35%
54.51%
81. 52%
76. 95%
45. 90%
34. 53%
58.40%
68.00%
22.66%
44.01%

3.28%
31. 43%
22. 34%

3. 00%
28.81%
24. 63%

(20. 00%)
2. 85%
0.00%
2. 61%

33. 44%

84. 97%
0.00%
0. 00%
0.00%

95.94%

0. 00%
0. 00%
0. 00%

34.59%

Page 5 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
Income Statement

8/31/23
PY Month CY Month PY YTD CYTTD

02 - IMRF/FICA Fund
Revenues

Undesignated Revenue

CY Budget 33%

Property Tax Levy-IMRF
Property Tax Levy FICA
Interest Income IMRF

Interest Income FICA

Total Undesignated Revenue

Total Revenues

Expenses
Undesignated Expenses

Human Resources

Employer IMRF
Employer FICA

Total Human Resources

Total Undesignated Expenses

Total Expenses

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

$0.00
$0. 00
$0.00
$0. 00
$0. 00

$0. 00

$28,059. 14
$24, 052. 16
$52, 111. 30

$52, 111. 30

$52, 111. 30

($52, 111. 30)

$4,747.38
$3, 228. 22

$91. 27
$62. 06

$8, 128. 93

$8, 128. 93

$34, 160.96
$34, 290. 93
$68, 451. 89

$68, 451. 89

$68, 451. 89

($60, 322. 96)

$219,804.21
$149, 466. 87

$3. 19
$2. 17

$369,276.44

$369,276.44

$111,333.37
$94, 895. 29

$206,228.66

$206, 228. 66

$206. 228. 66

$163, 047. 78

$214, 625. 19
$145, 945. 13

$91.27
$62. 06

$360, 723. 65

$360, 723. 65

$108, 934. 78
$107, 625. 87
$216, 560. 65

$216,560.65

$216, 560. 65

$144, 163.00

$425, 000. 00
$289,000.00

$500. 00
$500. 00

$715, 000. 00

$715, 000. 00

$400, 000. 00
$280, 000. 00
$680, 000. 00

$680, 000. 00

$680, 000.00

$35, 000.00

50. 50%
50.50%
18. 25%
12. 41%
50.45%

50.45%

27.23%
38. 44%
31.85%

31.85%

31.85%

Page 6 of 191



03 - Capital Improvements Fund
Revenues

Undesignated Revenue
Interest Income

Total Undesignated Revenue

Transfers & Other Financing Sources
Transfer from General fund

Total Transfers & Other Financing Sources

Total Revenues

Expenses
Undesignated Expenses

Capital Projects & Bond Expenses
Renovation/Repair
Professional Fees

Total Capital & Bond Expenses

Total Undesignated Expenses

Total Expenses

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Northbrook Public Library
Income Statement

8/31/23
PY Month CY Month PY YTD CYYTD CY Budget 33%

$1, 679. 95

$1,679. 95

$0. 00
$0. 00

$1, 679. 95

$71,983.00
$0. 00

$71, 983. 00

$71, 983. 00

$71, 983. 00

($70, 303. 05)

$2,620.43
$2, 620. 43

$0. 00
$0. 00

$2, 620. 43

$22,845.45
$0.00

$22, 845. 45

$22, 845. 45

$22, 845. 45

($20, 225. 02)

$2,917.30
$2, 917. 30

$0.00
$0. 00

$2, 917. 30

$78,343.00
$0.00

$78, 343. 00

$78, 343. 00

$78, 343. 00

($75, 425. 70)

$10, 396. 15
$10, 396. 15

$0.00
$0.00

$10.396. 15

$32, 285. 48
$0.00

$32,285.48

$32, 285. 48

$32. 285. 48

($21,889.33)

$24, 000. 00
$24, 000. 00

$425, 000. 00
$425, 000. 00

$449, 000.00

$720, 000. 00
$180, 000. 00
$900, 000. 00

$900,000.00

$900,000.00

($451,OOO.C

43.32%
43. 32%

0.00%
0.00%

2. 32%

4.48%
0.00%
3. 59%

3. 59%

3. 59%

Page 7 of 191



05 - Debt Service Fund
Revenues

Undesignated Revenue
Property Tax Levy
Interest Income

Total Undesignated Revenue

Total Revenues

Expenses
Undesignated Expenses

Capital Projects & Bond Expenses
Interest Payments
Principal Payments

Total Capital & Bond Expenses

Total Undesignated Expenses

Total Expenses

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Northbrook Public Library
Income Statement

8/31/23
PY Month CY Month PYYTD CfYTD CY Budget 33%

$0.00
$0. 00
$0.00

$0.00

$0. 00
$0. 00
$0.00

$0. 00

$0.00

$0.00

$8,499.49
$163. 40

$8, 662. 89

$8,662. 89

$0. 00
$0. 00
$0.00

$0. 00

$0.00

$8,662.89

$391,794.54
$5. 68

$391,800.22

$391, 800. 22

$183, 775. 00
$0. 00

$183, 775. 00

$183, 775. 00

$183, 775. 00

$208,025.22

$384,254.84
$163.40

$384,418.24

$384, 418. 24

$175, 450. 00
$0. 00

$175, 450. 00

$175, 450. 00

$175,450.00

$208,968.24

$760, 900. 00
$0. 00

$760, 900. 00

$760, 900. 00

$350, 900. 00
$410, 000. 00
$760,900.00

$760,900.00

$760, 900. 00

$0. 00

50. 50%
0.00%

50. 52%

50. 52%

50.00%
0.00%

23. 06%

23. 06%

23. 06%

Page 8 of 191



AUGUST 2023 CIAL

I want to highlight that the budget is allocated evenly throughout the year while actual
expenditures are recorded on a cash basis as paid.

Total General Fund revenues collected to date is $4,740,835. 85

. Property Taxes - 51 .53% of property taxes have been collected

. Replacement Taxes - budget number is a conservative estimate - At this time
allocations are higher due to legislative changes. This revenue is collected by the State

of Illinois and paid to local governments to replace money that was lost by local

governments when their powers to impose personal property taxes on corporations,
partnerships, and other business entities were taken away.

. Fines, Fees & Rentals budget is a conservative estimate - we have collected more than
budget - the breakdown is as follows

o 13% is fines and lost item / replacement collections
o 71 % is non-resident fees

o 16% is copy machine collections

. Interest Income is a consen/ative estimate - we have collected more than budget

Total General Fund expenditures are $2, 996, 577. 23, budget differences include:

. Unemployment / Workers Compensation is greater than budget due to invoice being
paid annually - the amount booked represents 10 months of expense

. Software is greater than budget due to annual renewals being recorded when paid

. Postage is greater than budget due to annual deposit being recorded when paid

. General Insurance is greater than budget due to invoice being paid annually - the
amount booked represents 10 months of expense

. Telephone is greater than budget due to booking 6 months of Ring Central expense and
annual cost for Comcast (mobility phone lines and backup internet)

. Furniture, Equipment is greater than budget due to purchase of technology equipment
- costs recorded when paid

. Equipment Rental & Maintenance is greater than budget due to annual expense for
RFID and AMH being recorded

. Community Relations is less than budget due to expenses being recorded when
incurred not evenly throughout the year

. Vehicle Expense is less than budget due to less usage and fewer repairs

Page 9 of 191



Utilities is less than budget due to gas costs being higher in the winter as compared to
summer

Building Repairs is less than budget due to costs being recorded when incurred not
evenly throughout the year

Recruiting is less than budget due to using no cost options to publish employment
opportunities and voiding a check issued for background checks as we are looking for a
new method; A check was cut in FY23 and voided and not reissued in FY24

Page 10 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
Bills, Charges and Transfers for Board of Trustee Approval

Month of August 23

Operating Funds
Library Claims List
Librarian's Claims List

Payroll
Fica/IMRF
ACH to IPBC

Total Operating Funds

Capital Improvement Fund
Claims List

Debt Service Fund

Grand Total Library

$

$

$

$
$

$

$

$

176, 563. 69
15, 465. 52

446, 790. 63
68, 451. 89
84, 791. 88

792, 063. 61

22, 657. 00
22, 657. 00

$ 814, 720. 61

9/13/2023 9:21 AM Bill Approval 24

Page 11 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
Bank Register Report

Northbrook Bank & Trust General Checking

Transaction
Number

26013

26027

26028

26029

26030

26031

26032

26033

26034

26035

26036

26037

26038

26039

26040

26041

26042

26043

26044

26045

26046

26047

26048

26049

26050

26051

26052

26053

26054

26055

26056

26057

26058

26059

26060

26061

Transaction

Date

7/31/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/17/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

8/30/2023

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45168

45169

45169

45169

45169

Vendor

Fifth Star Collective, LLC

Amigos Library Services - LMC

Authors Unbound Agency

First Bankcard

Gotham Artists Talent Services

Illinois Library Association

Jessica Koontz

Northbrook Chamber of Commerce &
Indust

Olsson Roofing Company, Inc.

Symmetry Energy Solutions, LLC

American Library Association,
Membershi

Authors Unbound Agency

Best Quality Cleaning

Cooperative Computer Service

Tom Deja

Demco

Dornfeld Piano Tuning

Fifth Star Collective, LLC

Gale/Cengage Learning Inc.

Grey House Publishing

It's Impressive LLC

Library Journals LLC

Menard Consulting, Inc.

Niche Academy

Outsource Solutions Group, Inc.

Overdrive

Penguin Random hlouse LLC

Petersen Bros. Plastics. Inc.

Reaching Across Illinois Library System

Carlos Rodriguez

Village of Northbrook Water Dept.

Wells Fargo Vender Fin Serv

Amazon Capital Services

Baker & Taylor

Fast Signs

Midwest Tape LLC

Amount Descri tion

$ (1, 312. 50) ILP

$ 1,425.00 annual payment-staff development

$ 5, 000. 00 ILP

$ 13,255.77 monthly payment - supplies

$11,250.00 ILP

$925. 00 annual payment - staff development

$2,720.00 annual payment - tuition reimbursement

$600. 00 annual payment - staff development

semi annual payment - contracted
services

$2, 165.15 monthly payment - utilities

$761. 00 annual payment - staff development

$6,908.41 ILP

$7, 139.25 monthly payment - contracted services

$24,654.39 quarterly payment - OCLC and CCS

$1,250.00 ILP

$1, 686. 80 monthly payment - supplies

quarterly payment - equipment rental
and re air

$1, 312. 50 ILP

$882.90 monthly payment - materials

$2, 995. 00 annual payment - materials

$927.00 annual payment - community relations

$720. 00 annual paynnent - staff development

$2,500.00 annual payment - professional fees

$1, 290. 00 annual payment - materials

monthly payment - contracted services &
software

$16,398. 12 monthly payment - materials

53, 750. 00 ILP

$780.00 monthly payment - supplies

$825. 00 annual payment - materials

$4, 500.00 annual payment - professional fees

$2,708.10 quarterly payment - utiliites

$765.00 monthly payment photocopy

$1, 701. 83 monthly payment - supplies

$23,297.21 monthly payment - materials

$3, 365. 39 annual payment - furniture & equipment

$6,428.45 monthly payment - materials

$ 176, 563.69
Page 12 of 191



Transaction

Number

52702
53182

53183

53184

53185

53186

53187

53188

53189

53190

53191

53192

53193

53194

53195

53196

53197

53198

53199

53200

53201

53202

53203

53204

53205

53206

53207

53208

53209

53210

53211

53212

53213

53214

53215

53216
53217

Northbrook Public Library

Bank Register Report

Northbrook Bank & Trust Librarian Checking

Transaction

Date Vendor

1/31/2002 VOID - Carolann Cohen

8/14/2023 AICPA

8/14/2023 AkbarAli

8/14/2023 Ancel Glink P. C.

8/14/2023 The Book Bin

8/14/2023 Bryan Brugger

8/14/2023 Carolann Cohen

8/14/2023 William Cohen

8/14/2023 Kathryn Hall

8/14/2023 Library Journals LLC

8/14/2023 Moore Landscapes, LLC
8/14/2023 Ocooch Hardwoods

8/14/2023 Petty Cash Custodian

8/14/2023 Linda Rodin

8/14/2023 School Outfitters

8/14/2023 Sunset Food Mart, Inc.

8/14/2023 Today's Business Solutions, Inc.

8/14/2023 Wisconsin Glacier Springs Company

8/14/2023 WM Corporate Services Inc.
8/14/2023 Susan Wolf

8/30/2023 A-Z Mindfulness

8/30/2023 Added Incentives, Inc.

8/30/2023 Ben Tatar Music

8/30/2023 Barbara H Brody

8/30/2023 Nancy Buehler

8/30/2023 Chicago Tribune

8/30/2023 Cintas

8/30/2023 Sandra Cotler

8/30/2023 YokoNogeDean
8/30/2023 David Drazin

8/30/2023 David Drazin

8/30/2023 David Drazin

8/30/2023 David Drazin

8/30/2023 ECO Promotional Products, Inc.

8/30/2023 Fun Express, LLC
8/30/2023 Glenview Chess Club LLC

8/30/2023 Benjamin Goluboff

Amount

($4.00)
$340. 00

$31.89

$172. 50

$160. 00

$92. 44

$4.00

$381. 16

$167.81

$492.00

$550.00

$235. 18

$105. 01

$17.00

$231.59

$22.74

$107. 93

$15. 50

$562. 19

$25. 00

$150.00

$193.00

$450. 00

$16. 99

$250. 00

$288.99

$169.04

$75.00

$500.00

$250. 00

$250. 00

$250. 00

$250. 00

$576.34

$34. 10

$200.00
$250.00

Page 13 of 191



Northbrook Public Library

Bank Register Report

Northbrook Bank & Trust Librarian Checking

Transaction Transaction

Number Date Vendor

53218 8/30/2023 Erin P. Gosser

53219 8/30/2023 Grainger

53220 8/30/2023 Happiness Forward LLC
53221 8/30/2023 Jayne Herring

53222 8/30/2023 Illinois Heartland Library System-OCLC

53223 8/30/2023 Illinois Library Association
53224 8/30/2023 Lechner Services

53225 8/30/2023 Kathleen Jo Zeigler Mitchem
53226 8/30/2023 Northbrook Hardware

53227 8/30/2023 Kirn Pesche

53228 8/30/2023 Jill Pifer

53229 8/30/2023 Playaway Products
53230 8/30/2023 Postmaster - Northbrook

53231 8/30/2023 Quill LLC

53232 8/30/2023 Red Hill Birding

53233 8/30/2023 Olga Rudiak

53234 8/30/2023 Runco Office Supply
53235 8/30/2023 Sujin Song

53236 8/30/2023 State Graphics

53237 8/30/2023 Sterling Services, Inc.
53238 8/30/2023 Swank Motion Pictures Inc.

53239 8/30/2023 Tsai Fong Books, Inc.

53240 8/30/2023 Universal Film Exchanges LLC
53241 8/30/2023 UPS

53242 8/30/2023 VSP of Illinois, NFP

53243 8/30/2023 Robert Waterbury

53244 8/30/2023 Yami Vending Inc.

53245 8/30/2023 Jiyoung Youn

53248 8/31/2023 Baker & Taylor Entertainment
53249 8/31/2023 Cintas

Amount

$18. 99

$526.98

$100.00

$450. 00

$66.04

$150.00

$175.20

$500.00

$65. 69

$175. 00

$474. 38

$90. 69

$310.00

$75.85

$200.00

$500. 00

$334. 77

$100.00

$270.44

$375.00

$396.00

$545. 20

$200. 00

$7. 10

$401. 01

$50.00

$543. 90

$5.00

$452. 62

$42. 26

$15, 465. 52

Page 14 of 191



Northbrook Public Library

Bank Register Report

Northbrook Bank & Trust Capital Improvements

Transaction Transaction

Number Date Vendor Amount Description

1885 8/17/2023 F. E. Moran Mechanical Services $ 19, 500. 00 annual ayment - IT HVAC reject
1886 8/30/2023 Thermosystems Building System Solutions $3, 157. 00 annual ayment - chiller investigation

$ 22, 657. 00

Page 15 of 191



L:\Administration\Board of Trustees\Board Packets\2023\BOD 9 2023\2024 Closing Schedule.docx 

NORTHBROOK PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Scheduled Closing Days for Calendar 2024

 

New Year's Eve  Sunday, December 31, 2023  
 

New Year's Day  Monday, January 1, 2024 
 

Security Training  Friday, January 19, 2024   
 

Easter  Sunday, March 31, 2024 (not a paid holiday)  
 

Staff Development Day  Friday, May 24, 2024  
 

Memorial Day  Monday, May 27, 2024 
 

Fourth of July  Thursday, July 4, 2024 
 

Security Training  Friday, August 2, 2024 (late open, 12:00 pm) 
 

Labor Day  Sunday, September 1, 2024 
 

Labor Day  Monday, September 2, 2024 
 

Thanksgiving Eve  Wednesday, November 27, 2024 (close at 6:00 pm)  
 

Thanksgiving  Thursday, November 28, 2024 
 

Day after Thanksgiving  Friday, November 29, 2024 
 

Christmas Eve  Tuesday, December 24, 2024 
 

Christmas Day  Wednesday, December 25, 2024 
 

New Year's Eve  Tuesday, December 31, 2024   
 

New Year's Day  Wednesday, January 1, 2025 

 

Page 16 of 191



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Memorandum 

 

DATE: September 14, 2023 
 
TO: Board of Trustees  
  
FROM: Kate Hall, Executive Director  
 
RE: Updated Employee Handbook Policies 
 

version.  These are included in the consent agenda, but anyone that would like to discuss 
more fully can ask that they be removed from the consent agenda for additional discussion.   
 
MOTION:  To approve and make effective as of October 1, 2023 the updated vacation time 
and association membership employee handbook policies as presented.   

Vacation Time 

As part of our ongoing efforts to look at policies and ensure they are fair and equitable, to 
create a competitive pay and benefits package, and to update policies after implementing 
the new salary schedule, I am recommending that the board change the vacation time policy 
to give all full-  Previously, any full-time staff that were not 
degreed librarians received 2 weeks off and then worked up to 4 weeks off over the course 
of a decade.  Librarians immediately received 4 weeks off upon hire.  After reviewing work 
load and coverage with the managers, everyone was in agreement that there will not be an 
issue with staffing if this policy is changed.  This will impact 12 staff currently on the payroll.   

Professional Association Memberships 

I am recommending that we change the wording to be more inclusive from professional to 
association memberships and to change offering memberships for full-time staff for ALA and 
ILA from only librarians to all full-time staff.  If everyone joins, this would cost the library 
another $1,200 annually.   
 

Page 17 of 191



SECTION 3: TIME OFF 

03.1 Vacation 

Created: February 2020 Updated:  

Full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible for paid vacation. Benefit-

eligible employees accrue paid vacation each pay period in which they work, take 

approved paid time off, or take an approved unpaid FMLA. Vacation time must be 

department. Department managers will see that vacation time is scheduled in relation 

to both library needs and the desires of individual employees. If vacation requests 

conflict within a department and departmental operations are such that the conflicting 

parties cannot be spared at the same time, the department manager shall decide the 

issue on the basis of seniority and/or skill needs. 

Employees are encouraged to use vacation time in the calendar year in which it 

accrues. Any unused vacation time in excess of the carry-over maximums listed below 

will be lost at the end of the calendar year.  

Employees will not accrue vacation time during unpaid leaves of absence, except for 

approved FMLA or ADA leaves of absence. 

Full-time employees accrue 140 hours (20 days) vacation per year at the rate of 5.83 

hours per pay period. The maximum carry-over to the following calendar year is 140 

hours. Regular part-time employees accrue 48 hours vacation per year earned at the 

rate of 2.0 hours per pay period. The maximum carry-over to the following year is 48 

hours. 

Employees who change status from regular part-time to full-time or from full-time to 

regular part-time begin accruing at the new rate on the effective date of the change.  

Page 18 of 191



the vacation time. Payment for accrued but unused vacation will be made to 

employees who terminate employment from the library. 

 

Page 19 of 191



SECTION 3: TIME OFF 

03.1 Vacation 

Created: February 2020 Updated:  

Full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible for paid vacation. Benefit-

eligible employees accrue paid vacation each pay period in which they work, take 

approved paid time off, or take an approved unpaid FMLA. Vacation time must be 

department. Department managers will see that vacation time is scheduled in relation 

to both library needs and the desires of individual employees. If vacation requests 

conflict within a department and departmental operations are such that the conflicting 

parties cannot be spared at the same time, the department manager shall decide the 

issue on the basis of seniority and/or skill needs. 

Employees are encouraged to use vacation time in the calendar year in which it 

accrues. Any unused vacation time in excess of the carry-over maximums listed below 

will be lost at the end of the calendar year.  

Employees will not accrue vacation time during unpaid leaves of absence, except for 

approved FMLA or ADA leaves of absence. 

Full-time employees at pay grade 9 and above accrue 140 hours (20 days) vacation per 

year at the rate of 5.83 hours per pay period. The maximum carry-over to the following 

calendar year is 140 hours. 

All other full-time employees accrue 70 hours (10 days) vacation per year earned at the 

rate of 2.92 hours per pay period. After the first year of employment, an additional 

seven hours of vacation is accrued each year as outlined in the schedule below. The 

maximum accrual is 140 hours.   

 

Page 20 of 191



 

The accrual schedule is as follows: 

Year of Employment  

1  70 hours or 2.92 hours per pay period 

2  77 hours or 3.21 hours per pay period 

3  84 hours or 3.50 hours per pay period 

4  91 hours or 3.79 hours per pay period 

5  98 hours or 4.08 hours per pay period 

6 105 hours or 4.38 hours per pay period 

7 112 hours or 4.67 hours per pay period 

8 119 hours or 4.96 hours per pay period 

9 126 hours or 5.25 hours per pay period 

10 133 hours or 5.54 hours per pay period 

11 140 hours or 5.83 hours per pay period 

 

 

The maximum carry-over to the following year is the amount earned that year. 

Regular part-time employees accrue 48 hours vacation per year earned at the rate of 

2.0 hours per pay period. The maximum carry-over to the following year is 48 hours. 

Employees who change status from regular part-time to full-time or from full-time to 

regular part-time begin accruing at the new rate on the effective date of the change. 

Years of service accumulated during regular part-time status will count towards 

vacation eligibility if the employee changes status to full-time. 

e employee uses 

the vacation time. Payment for accrued but unused vacation will be made to 

employees who terminate employment from the library. 

 

Page 21 of 191



05.4 Association Memberships 

Created: February 2020 Updated: May 2023 

A. Membership for ALA will be paid for all full-time and regular part-time employees. 

The library will pay for basic membership and one division. 

B. Basic ILA membership will be paid for all full-time and regular part-time employees.  

C. Joint Student membership for ILA and ALA will be paid for any employees enrolled 

in an ALA accredited Masters of Library and Information Science program.   

D. Other association memberships, for full-time employees are at the discretion of the 

Executive Director.  

 

Page 22 of 191



05.4 AssociationProfessional Memberships 

Created: February 2020 Updated: May 2023 

A. Membership for ALA will be paid for all full-time and regular part-time 

employeeslibrarians. The library will pay for basic membership and one division. 

B. Basic ILA membership will be paid for all full-time and regular part-time 

employeeslibrarians.  

C. Joint Student membership for ILA and ALA will be paid for any employees enrolled 

in an ALA accredited Masters of Library and Information Science program.   

D. Other associationprofessional memberships, for full-time employees at a pay grade 

of 9 or higher are at the discretion of the Executive Director.  

 

Page 23 of 191



 

 
 

 
 

Memorandum 

 

DATE: September 5, 2023 
 
TO: Board of Trustees  
  
FROM: Kate Hall, Executive Director  
 
RE: LIMRiCC Intergovernmental Agreement Update  
 
LIMRiCC consists of two separate pools.  (1) PHIP  The Purchase of Health Care Insurance 
Program that comprises of health insurance benefits for your full time and eligible part time 
employees and (2) UCGA - Unemployment Compensation Claim Program which entails the 
centralized management of unemployment compensation claims.  We are a member of the 

reviewing and updating the LIMRiCC Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA). There are two 
resolutions for the board to approve.  The IGA and resolutions are included in the packet.    
 

IGA Administrative Resolution  

I
to an Executive Director as this is outsourced by a contractual agreement with Lauterbach & 
Amen, LLP and the removal of any reference to JSIP account.  JSIP refers to a Joint Self 
Insurance Program that LIMRiCC no longer offers. The two accounts formerly referred to 
separately as SHIP and PHIP will be recognized going forward as the Health Insurance 
Program (HIP).  A summary of the changes is listed as well as outlined in the IGA.   
 
Section 2. LIMRiCC is requesting a change to the acronym by which we refer to the Health 
Insurance plan (right now referred to as PHIP -  Purchase of Health Insurance Plan or SHIP - 
Self-Insurance Health Insurance Plan) to HIP- Health Insurance Plan 
 
Section 3.  LIMRiCC is tidying up some language in the IGA 
 
Section 4. LIMRiCC may appoint a designee to handle a piece of business 
 
Section 5.  For UCGA membership, it adds language about how it assists in filing for a 
refund with the Illinois Department of Employment Security. 
 

Page 24 of 191



Section 6. LIMRiCC no longer employs staff (we contract with Lauterbach & Amen), so this 
moves this duty to the Board of Directors 
 
Section 7.  Cleans up language. 
 
Section 8.  LIMRiCC no longer offers a plan called JSIP (Joint Self-Insurance Pool), which was 
a Property & Casualty Plan - Please contact LIRA if your library is interested in coverage like 
that.  The updated IGA is removing all references to JSIP. 
 
Section 9: Removing references to JSIP 
 
Section 10: Removing references to JSIP 
 
Section 11: Removing references to JSIP 
 
Section 12:  Cleaning up language 
 
Section 13: Updating the address to the current address (the old address in the IGA is not 
current and hasn't been for about 5-6 years). 
 
Section 14: Removing references to JSIP 
 
Section 15: Notices may also come from emails, not just mailings. 
 
Section 16: Cleans up the language in the IGA 
 
Section 17: Simplifies the language in the IGA 
 
Section 18: Simplifies the language in the IGA 
 
Section 19: Simplifies the outdated language in the IGA (we're no longer in the year 2015...) 
 
Section 20: Simplifies the language 
 
Section 21: Updates the language 
 
Section 22: Fixes a typo 
 
Section 23: LIMRiCC no longer employs an Executive Director 
 
Section 24: Updates the address again 
 
Section 25: Simplifies the language 
 
Section 26: Updates the address again 

Page 25 of 191



 
Section 27: LIMRiCC no longer has a staff (we contract with Lauterbach & Amen), so it 
deletes the word "staff" 
 
Section 28: Capitalizes a word 
 
Section 29: Suggest November 15th, 2023 for the new agreement date 
 
Section 29: Each member affected by the amendments will receive notice of the 
amendments  and the notice period and a voting ballot 
 
Section 30: The new IGA will need 2/3rds of the membership to approve 
 
Section 31: The President of the Library Board will be authorized to sign, and the Secretary is 
authorized to attest the resolution upon passage by the Library Board 
 
the LIMRiCC Board authorized the sending of this Resolution on July 26th, 2023 
 

IGA Substantive Resolution  

Includes new member procedures, requirements of a terminating member, mandatory 
LIMRiCC sponsored meetings, and a late fee for PHIP payments. A summary of the changes 
is below as well as outlined in the IGA. 
The Substantial Resolution Changes are: 
 
Section 2:  Removing the distinction between PHIP and SHIP insurance.  It will now be 
referred to as HIP "Health Insurance Plan" 
 
Section 3: For UCGA (Unemployment Compensation Insurance), a late fee will be assessed 
for $50.00 any paperwork or payment submitted after the due date.  The Board has the 
authority to increase the late fee by up to 10% in a calendar year. 
 
Section 4: Adds the words "and dental insurance for insured participants" - basically, dental 
insurance wasn't part of the package included in the wording before. 
 
Section 5: The Administration fee for the Calendar year will be announced each year at the 
Annual Fall membership meeting. 
 
Section 6: Cleans up language 
 
Section 7: Employers are required to maintain HR paperwork for employees demonstrating 
that employees are eligible for the purchase of insurance benefits (meeting hourly 
requirements, etc.) Employers must also notify LIMRiCC of new and terminated employees 
in a timely fashion. 
 

Page 26 of 191



Section 8: Members must have at least 1 representative from their library at each full 
membership meeting; failure to have a member at the meeting without good cause may 
result in a $150 fee. 
 
Section 9: In years where LIMRiCC's benefit provider (health insurance plan) allows new 
members to join, an application for membership will be required. If the health insurance 
provider clears the library for membership, the new member will be required to sign the IGA 
AND pay a non-refundable 2-month premium into LIMRiCC's reserves. The premium will be 
based on the new member's enrollment and will apply to PHIP and SHIP. 
 
Section 10: Adds language related to how late fees are determined. 
 
Section 11: Adds language related to how refunds from LIMRiCC are handled if an 
adjustment to an invoice is necessary. 
 
Section 12:  Clarifies language about termination of membership or voluntary withdrawal, 
including the notice period to be provided to LIMRiCC and the length of run-out period of 
payments to be made to LIMRiCC. 
 
Section 13: Removes language about Metropolitan Library System/Suburban Library System 
(which is a wee bit of history about LIMRiCC) 
 
Section 14: The proposed date of the amendments is November 15, 2023 
 
Section 15: That members were given notice about the amendments 
 
Section 16: The amendments will be adopted upon 2/3rds of an affirmative vote of the 
members 
 
Section 17: The President of the Library Board is empowered to sign, and the Secretary of 
the Board can attest once the Library Board votes to approve the Resolution 
 

Page 27 of 191



Page 28 of 191



Page 29 of 191



Page 30 of 191



Page 31 of 191



Page 32 of 191



Page 33 of 191



Page 34 of 191



Page 35 of 191



Page 36 of 191



Page 37 of 191



Page 38 of 191



Page 39 of 191



Page 40 of 191



Page 41 of 191



Page 42 of 191



Page 43 of 191



Page 44 of 191



Page 45 of 191



Page 46 of 191



Page 47 of 191



Page 48 of 191



Page 49 of 191



Page 50 of 191



Page 51 of 191



Page 52 of 191



Page 53 of 191



Page 54 of 191



Page 55 of 191



Page 56 of 191



Page 57 of 191



Page 58 of 191



Page 59 of 191



Page 60 of 191



Page 61 of 191



Page 62 of 191



Page 63 of 191



Page 64 of 191



Page 65 of 191



Page 66 of 191



Page 67 of 191



Page 68 of 191



Page 69 of 191



Page 70 of 191



Page 71 of 191



Page 72 of 191



Page 73 of 191



Page 74 of 191



Page 75 of 191



Page 76 of 191



Page 77 of 191



Page 78 of 191



Page 79 of 191



Page 80 of 191



Page 81 of 191



Page 82 of 191



Page 83 of 191



Page 84 of 191



Page 85 of 191



Page 86 of 191



Page 87 of 191



Page 88 of 191



Page 89 of 191



Page 90 of 191



Page 91 of 191



Page 92 of 191



Page 93 of 191



Page 94 of 191



Page 95 of 191



Page 96 of 191



Page 97 of 191



Page 98 of 191



Page 99 of 191



Page 100 of 191



Page 101 of 191



Page 102 of 191



Page 103 of 191



Page 104 of 191



Page 105 of 191



Page 106 of 191



Page 107 of 191



Page 108 of 191



Page 109 of 191



Page 110 of 191



Page 111 of 191



Page 112 of 191



Page 113 of 191



Page 114 of 191



Page 115 of 191



 
 

Agenda Items   

3  Consent Agenda  

3.5 Approve 2024 Closing Schedule  
 A schedule is included in the packet.  I have no changes to days listed on the closing 

schedule previously approved.   
 
3.6 Approve Vacation and Association Membership Employee Handbook Updates  
 I have included a memo outlinining the changes and a clean and marked up policy.  
 
3.7 Approve LIMRiCC Intergovernmental Agreement  
 I have included a memo outlining the changes.  The IGA and two resolutions proposed 

are also included in the packet.  This is from our Unemployment Insurance cooperative.   

7 Unfinished Business 

7.1 Strategic Plan Update 
 I will provide a verbal update at the meeting.  
 
7.2 Lily Zheng EDI Project Update 
 I will provide a verbal update at the meeting.  
   
7.3 Book Sanctuary in Northbrook Resolution 

The resolution is included again in the packet.  The Village has not asked for any 
changes to what was presented.   

8 New Business 

8.1 FY24 Tax Levy Draft 
Anna has prepared a memo and draft tax levy and included them in the packet.  Anna 
and I will give a presentation on the levy at the board meeting.  
 

8.2 Class 6B 3075-3085 Commercial Avenue Request 
We have received a Class 6B request from the Village.  I have included a memo 

feedback.   
 

Page 116 of 191



8.3 Staff Questions for Board FY23 Audit Presentation 
Michelle Mistalski and Sara Scodius have put together a list of questions and feedback 
they have gathered from staff.  The list is included in the packet.  

9  Closed Session 

9.1  Trustee Vacancy Appointment 
I have included a memo with the questions from the last time we had a vacancy and a 
spreadsheet of the 23 applications we received.   

 
9.2  HVAC Chiller  

Anna has prepared a memo outlining the steps taken since the last meeting and shared 
more detail on the HVAC Chiller situation. 

 
9.3  Library Safety & Security Update  

Kelly and I will provide an update on library safety and security concerns after last 
 

 
9.4  Executive Director Review  

I have prepared a memo and spreadsheet with information on Executive Director 
salaries.   

10 Agenda Building 

• Trustee Vacancy Appointment 

• Per Capita Grant Annual Requirements Review 

• Discuss Staff Appreciation Week 

• Lily Zheng Report Discussion 

• Strategic Plan Update 

• FY23 Audit Presentation 

• File account of all monies received and expended during preceding fiscal year (FY23) 
per 65 ILCS 6/3.1-35-65 

Board News 

Upcoming meeting reminders 

Village Board Meeting 9/26 at 7:30pm  
One Book One Northbrook Kick Off 9/30 10:30-1 
EDI Survey Results Special Meeting 10/3, 10/4 or 10/5 -Jennifer is finding the date  
Trustee Vacancy Interviews 10/9 6-8pm 

Page 117 of 191



Updates 

Upcoming Library Events 

One Book One Northbrook  

The One Book Kickoff event is coming up 
on Saturday, September 30. We will have a 
selection of food available from Kamehachi 
(sushi, vegetable spring rolls, chicken 
teriyaki) and 
beef). Music from the Yoko Noge band 
(blues/jazz) will begin at 11:00am. Crafts will 
include calligraphy and a cherry blossom 
craft.  
 
We began giving away copies of Clark and Division to patrons and staff. There are copies 
available for patrons to take on the left side of the spotlight display, along with brochures and 
bookmarks listing our One Book events. There are copies available for staff to take in the staff 
lounge. Both areas will be replenished while supplies last. We raffled off five copies of the 
book at the Farmers Market and plan to do the same at Seniorpalooza, the One Book Kickoff 
Event, and Shermerfest. We also have regular book club copies that may be checked out at 
the Fiction & Media desk.  

Programming 

Summer Reading 

Summer Reading ended on August 13th with strong participation and finishing numbers across 
all 4 programs. Adult Services gave out over 500 Northbrook Public Library lunch totes and 
Youth Services gave out over 1,110 prize books to teens, kids and babies who finished the 
Summer Reading Program.  

Page 118 of 191



 
This year we had 2,366 teens, kids, and babies participate in the program and a total of 1,291 
finishers. 796 patrons participated in Adult Summer Reading. We had an increase in 
participation as well 
at least 4 books. Patrons also enjoyed guessing the number of tea bags in the teakettle at the 
F&M Desk and creating magnetic poetry at the Reference Desk. 

Adult Programming  

 

• Arielle partnered with the Italian Film Festival to screen a film called Aspromonte, Land of 
the Forgotten. The film was in Italian with English subtitles and drew in a crowd of 49. 
Those who attended got the opportunity to participate in the festival by scoring the film 
and submitting their votes.  

• Events Production worked in partnership with JCC Chicago this month to support the work 
that they are doing with Violins of Hope, an initiative that exhibits Violins used by Jewish 
people during the Holocaust and their stories. The exhibit we hosted at the library 
featured 3 of these violins in the reference area accompanied by 2 docents. 62 people 
filtered through to view the display and interact with the docents. (Pictures below) 

• Events Production worked in partnership with YIVO Chicago this month for the third 
Northbrook Public Library event of the season. We close the summer with a mother 
daughter group mainly featuring Bibi Marcell. The program featured Yiddish music and 98 
were in attendance. 

Youth Programming 

• The Annual Stuffed Animal Sleepover Video Screening was held on Friday, August 11 in 

recording, and editing. 

• Teacher Dan returned in August to do 3 musical storytimes in the Story Corner. 
Altogether, we had 315 patrons attend the programs.    

• The Teen Summer Volunteer program ended on Sunday, August 13. Teens volunteered 
their time working with the Summer Reading Desk, Community Garden, YS programming, 
YS Collection, department assistants,     

o Total number of teens: 70 
o Total volunteer hours: 888.56  

Volunteers 

This month we have begun our slow roll out of open volunteer positions. On August 28, we 

posted three volunteer positions with a total of 10 openings. A few more positions will be 

rolled out this fall. 

Page 119 of 191



Collections  

A metal detector, a dog agility kit and a third outdoor movie theater kit have been added to 

the Library of Things collection.  

Publicity  

Linda and many other staff members enjoyed 

reaching out to attendees of the Northbrook 

Farmers Market where we promoted back library 

card signup, back to school services, and One 

Book, One Northbrook.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Harbour, an area organization that provides safe housing to youth and young mothers 

experiencing homelessness provided information at a table in our lobby and information 

about their services in the lobby display case in 

August. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 120 of 191



 
Collaboratory  Peltz Digitization 
Room: Bring your old memories 
into the present) 
Posted: July 8 
Facebook Reach: 2,418 
Reactions: 114 
 
  
 

Instagram Post: Barbie book 
display in YS 
Posted July 22 
Reach: 575 
Reactions: 81 

 

Partnerships 

The auditorium was also host to a Congress on 
the corner event. Congressman Brad Schneider 
heard feedback from the public and responded 
to the public regarding their concerns and 
priorities. 

Operations 

Technology 

In August, Staff prepped for the migration of Warren- th library, 
on September 1st. We took proactive measures in extending due dates, preparing FAQs and 
procedures to assist in their daily functions and helping patrons.  Our Integrated Library 
System was down September 1-September 4 so that Warren-Newport library could migrate 
into CCS. The inclusion of a new library adds many resources to our users. Downtime 
preparation and execution went very well thanks to all staff involved at our library and CCS.   

Safety 

Page 121 of 191



Libraries in our area continued to received bomb threats throughout the month of August.  
Our library did not receive any threats, but staff were keenly aware of what was going on. 
Kelly spent a good deal of time working with our police department to keep abreast of the 
situation, best practices, and recommendations. These attempts are being categorized by law 
enforcement as swatting attempts. Motive is unknown as is whom is doing this. The FBI are 
involved. We received one on September 14 via a webform on our website and have been 
keeping staff and board abreast of what is happening.   

HR  

Staff Arrivals 

• Lucy Gray, regular part-time Adult Services Assistant, effective September 18 

(replacement). 

Staff Departures 

• Drew Ibardaloza, part-time Shelver (CIRC), resigned effective August 12. She is starting her 
freshman year of college. 

• Kaya Ibardaloza, part-time Shelver (CIRC), resigned effective August 12. She is starting her 
freshman year of college. 

• Zoey Godnik, (temporary) part-time Summer Reading Assistant (YS), resigned effective 
August 12. She is starting her freshman year of college. 

 

Kate Medical Leave 

I was out on leave from August 25-September 5.  I was not able to come back fully on the 5th 
as I originally planned and worked very sporadically that week.  I was back in the building on a 
modified schedule starting September 11 and am back fully as of this week.   

Staff Training  

RAILS and Northbrook Public Library Right to Be: Bystander Intervention in Public Workplaces 
presented during our staff training time on August 4. Kelly Durov coordinated this event with 
Right to Be and RAILS. We have 2 more sessions with Right to Be at dates to be determined. 
The training was for all library staff and we had a total of 96 staff take the Right to Be training 
and 59 attend the debrief session that Kelly worked with the EDI Training group to design. 

working on incorporating what we learned into our existing safety and security procedures.  
 
 
Kate Hall, Executive Director 

Page 122 of 191



Monthly Report 1 
 

 
 

Prepared by: Cathleen Doyle 

August, 2023 
 

PROJECTS 

 

Page 123 of 191



Monthly Report 2 
 

PATRON STORIES 
From Maker Specialist Joe Cirignani: Helped a patron (returning after a 4 year 

hiatus!) laser etch flower inlays for a flower press she was working on. 

Originally, her dimensions were slightly too large but we worked together to 

figure out the proper dimensions, as well as some laser tricks to get them 

cutting right to fit in perfectly! 

 
 

From Assistant Manager Michelle Mistalski: A patron came 

in looking to use the sewing machine to create small bags 

by a family member that the library has a makerspace 

where they can use sewing machines. The entire Maker 

Services department staff helped the patron in various 

ways to create the lined bag. The patron was thrilled and 

floored by the patience and kindness the staff provided 

throughout the creation of the bags. 

 

MATERIALS 
August projects by material type charged: 

 

3D Printing 82 

Acrylic 50 

Buttons 6 

Cardstock 13 

Cork Coasters 16 

DVDs 10 

Embroidery Thread 20 

Glasses 25 

HDPE 1 

Iron-on 24 

Stabilizer Sheets 72 
Vinyl & Transfer 
Paper 36 

Wood 26 

 

 

 

3D PRINTING 
We printed 101 objects for users in August. 

 
 
VISITORS 
594 people visited the Collaboratory in August. 

 

Page 124 of 191



August 2023 Patron Comments

1

Comment Response Staff Member

"I am new to town and I am amazed at what you offer.
You're all dedicated, helpful, happy, and pleasant." Tracy Gossage

Just want to send a little pat on the back to Tracy for her
extraordinary helpfulness, cheerful hello! And contagious
enthusiasm. Every day.

I was trying to get my senior freeze exemption request filled
out online on the day of the deadline, but I was running out
of time and patience with the difficult Cook County
Treasurer and Assessor websites. Tracy was on the 2nd floor,
helping to staff the reference area. She leaped into action,
got me situated, understood how daunting things could be
for seniors and I got everything done in 45 minutes. I came
running out of Study Room Five to thank her and she was
gone. Probably back on the third floor making someone else
happy our library has such great people, not to mention that
it’s the best around.

Thank you so much for your kind words! I am glad that Tracy
was able to help you and I will make sure to pass along your
comment to her. It's always great to see you in the library. Susan Wolf

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Patron did not request to be contacted

A few patrons have said that it would be nice if there were a
shelf for items they would like to return. Sometimes they
have so many returns that they have to put many of the
returns on the floor.

A patron needed assistance opening an item she had
purchased from the vending machine and was grateful for
the assistance. This isn’t the first time this type of assistance
was requested, but it reminded me of how comfortable our
patrons are with asking for help when needed.

I brought some books out to a patron in her car as she was
unable to come into the library. The books had been pulled
by Debbie Siegel. The patron told me how wonderful
Debbie is and how much she appreciates everything Debbie
does to assist with obtaining items from the library. I relayed
the message to Debbie.

I observed a patron scanning the barcodes of the items at
the self-checkout. I showed them how to lay the item on the
pad and explained they could do multiple items at a time.
She was very thankful.

Page 125 of 191



August 2023 Patron Comments

2

Comment Response Staff Member
I helped a patron on the phone who was interested in
renewing an Interlibrary Loan book. She apologized for
wanting the book longer. I assured her that requesting
renewals is something that we always do. She said, “You do
so much! Thank you for all you do”.

A patron’s holds were canceled and reshelved because they
weren’t picked up after 7 days. She called and asked for
them to be gathered again, she was on her way! The items
were found upstairs on the shelf, the holds were trapped,
and as I went out to the lobby to shelve them on the Holds
Shelf, the patron walked in, saw me holding them, and gave
me the biggest, warmest hug! Made my day!

A patron wanted to keep on reading a book he had not
finished reading and ran out of renewals. Came up to me
asking if there was any way he could extend it just a little
longer. Fortunately, there was no hold for the book so I was
able to help him and extend it longer for him to finish. He
was super grateful and happy.

Patron told me they love the “electronic check-out system”!
It is so easy to use and its nice how you have the option to
print or email your receipt so it is less paper waste!

Our Patron positively commented on the first-floor lobby
(popular book /lucky day section). “There are patrons who
comment to each other about what they are reading and
what they liked reading.

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

A patron commented it was nice that such care was taken to
offer another option for them when they mentioned they
could not sit on those cushioned seats while we made their
library card. They indicated their body and age prevented
them from getting back up from that low of a positon. Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

I had a great experience here in the Collaboratory. The one
on one help made everything simple. Many thanks to the
staff! Patron did not request a response Cathleen Doyle

Add color photo printer and a workstation for doing AI
generated artwork No contact info provided Kim Hegelund

Page 126 of 191



August 2023 Patron Comments

3

Comment Response Staff Member
You are all amazing! I have had THE BEST time here today. I
arrived at noon and have now met everyone on staff! You
are all so kind, caring and patient! I am so impressed with
the knowledge you have of so many different materials,
techniques and machines. It is now 3:30 and I'm sad to
leave. I can wait to return again! submitted via paper form, no response recorded. Kim Hegelund

It was with great anticipation that I was shown the new
privacy windows as I was about to use Study Room Four
today. OMG. What were you thinking? If anything, these
claustrophobic fenestrations should be on the side next to
the hallway, where the bulk of library traffic can hear, see,
and react to everything that transpires in the study rooms.
Not on the side with the most gloriously unfettered view in
the annals of North Shore library architectural history. You
blocked the wrong side. I’ve been working here for an hour.
The traffic on the side with a view of the hallway has been
virtually non stop. The traffic on the side blocking the view
has been non existent. You blocked the wrong side. 
Which side really needs the privacy windows? The side with
the people? Or the side with the view? You blocked the
wrong side. Just an FYI, frosted windows will not suppress
the sound of talking on either side. I understand that
requests to create shower stall privacy were made by
“several“ people. Several is five to seven. Sometimes the
most vocal among us get counted twice. Regardless, as one
of the library’s most frequent flyers, I, and others who
cherish and revere this wonderful place, would have liked a
chance to weigh in. While writing this, as I often do when I
use the study rooms to work, I looked up several times to
collect my thoughts and enjoy the view, out of habit. Each
time I stared into an empty, gray fog. You blocked the
wrong side. Sometimes you don’t know how much is
missing until it’s gone. What a way to find out. 

I spoke with this patron when she was first seeing the new
privacy frosting applied to Study Rooms 3,4,5 in person. At
that time, I explained we'd had several requests to add this
feature to help people concentrate. Judy expressed that she
was very upset as she uses these study rooms to enjoy the
view. I empathized with her. I responded to her email with
this: Thank you for writing. I spoke with you yesterday in the
morning about the privacy frosting on the glass in Study
Rooms 3,4,5. I understand the loss you are feeling no longer
having the view that you had as a regular user of those
rooms. As our Reference Clerk mentioned yesterday, there
are several areas that still do have great views of the outside
including: the quiet study room, study rooms 15-18, seating
in the open areas on the second floor, as well as the the third
floor.  
 
If there is anything more that I can help you with, please do
not hesitate to reach out. Kelly Durov

Page 127 of 191



August 2023 Patron Comments

4

Comment Response Staff Member
A mom and a little boy who will be entering Kindergarten
stopped by the Welcome Desk. The mom mentioned that
they received a library card in the mail and the boy was so
excited to use it today! The card was sent as part of the
Northbrook Schools Student Registration for Library Cards
program that was begun this summer. Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Verbal comment. No response recorded. Kim Hegelund

Patron appreciated the drop in style program as
making reservations were not working with her in the
past. Patron appreciated seeing the violins of hope and
was thankful to our library staff for coordinating it and
as a drop in program.

Page 128 of 191



RESOLUTION  

A RESOLUTION DECLARING THE VILLAGE OF NORTHBROOK  

A BOOK SANCTUARY COMMUNITY  

 

WHEREAS, the freedom to read is a human right, constitutionally protected by the First 

Amendment of the United States Constitution, and individuals have the right to free 

inquiry and the equally important right to form their own opinions; and  

WHEREAS, Article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that ‘‘everyone 

has the right to freedom of opinion and expression; this right includes freedom to hold 

opinions without interference and to seek, receive and impart information and ideas 

through any media and regardless of frontiers’’; and  

WHEREAS, books do not require readers to agree with topics or themes but instead 

allow readers to explore and engage with differing perspectives to form and inform their 

own views; and  

WHEREAS, over the last several years, there has been a significant increase in censorship 

activities in the United States resulting in books being removed from library shelves and 

schools; and  

WHEREAS, book bans have multifaceted, harmful consequences on—  

(A) students who have a right to access a diverse range of stories and perspectives;  

(B) students, from historically marginalized backgrounds, whose communities are often 

underrepresented in literature;  

(C) educators and librarians who are being restricted in their access to information;  

(D) the authors whose works are being targeted; and  

(E) parents who want to raise students in schools that remain open to curiosity, 

discovery, and the freedom to read; and  

WHEREAS, classic and award-winning literature and books that have been part of school 

curricula for decades have been challenged, removed from libraries pending review, or 

outright banned from schools; and 

Page 129 of 191



WHEREAS, numerous books referring to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer and 

plus (“LGBTQ+”) themes or with LGBTQ+ characters have been banned from libraries 

and schools in the United States this year; and  

WHEREAS, numerous books, both fiction and nonfiction, with protagonists of color or 

prominent secondary characters of color have been banned from libraries and schools in 

the United States; and  

WHEREAS, the Village President and the Board of Trustees declare their opposition to 

the banning of books in any form; and  

WHEREAS, the Village President and the Board of Trustees applauds and supports the 

recent action by the Illinois General Assembly and Illinois Governor JB Pritzker in 

enacting Public Act 103-0100 on June 12, 2023 which takes effect on January 1, 2024 

and declares it to be the “policy of the State to encourage and protect the freedom of 

libraries and library systems to acquire materials without external limitation and to be 

protected against attempts to ban, remove, or otherwise restrict access to books or 

other materials;” and  

WHEREAS, the Northbrook Public Library has adopted the American Library 

Association’s Library Bill of Rights and has taken other actions to support the freedom 

to read in the Village, including maintaining a wide and varied collection; and  

WHEREAS, the Northbrook Public Library Board of Trustees has adopted a Collection 

Development Policy that supports a fair, equitable, and accessible collections for the 

public. 

WHEREAS, the Village of Northbrook supports having a fair, equitable, and accessible 

collections for the public. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of Northbrook, Illinois, in the exercise of their home rule powers, as follows:  

Section 1. Recitals Incorporated. The above recitals are incorporated herein as though 

fully set forth.  

Section 2. Adoption of American Library Association’s Freedom to Read Statement. The 

Village President and the Board of Trustees support and adopt the American Library 

Page 130 of 191



Association’s “Freedom to Read Statement,” attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference.  

Section 3. Book Sanctuary Declaration. The Village President and Board of Trustees 

declare that the Village is a book sanctuary community and the Village shall actively 

support, celebrate, and recognize business, organization or governmental entity that 

encourages intellectual freedom and the free exchange of ideas including the reading of 

banned and challenged books.  

Section 4. Book Sanctuary Community. As a book sanctuary community, the Village shall 

be a place where everyone can: (1) borrow and read challenged books; (2) make 

endangered books accessible to everyone; (3) host book talks, story times, and other 

events about banned and challenged books; and (4) educate others on the history of 

book banning and burning.  

Section 5. Book Sanctuary Actions. The Village supports the efforts of the Northbrook 

Public Library to advance and support Northbrook as being a book sanctuary Village 

and call upon community members to do the following: (1) host and join in-person or 

virtual banned book clubs to encourage critical discussion of censored stories that are 

most often challenged; (2) lending banned books to friends and neighbors; (3) using 

local Little Free Libraries as book sanctuaries, adding banned books as a way to support 

the freedom to read; (4) facilitating a book drive for banned and challenged books and 

donating books to local community centers, including the Friends of the Northbrook 

Public Library, for distribution at Little Free Libraries in the community; (5) hosting story 

times with inclusive characters that reflect the diversity of our world; and (6) amplifying 

individual voices on social media with #TheBookSanctuary.  

Section 6. Severability and Repeal of Inconsistent Ordinances, Resolutions and Motions. 

If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall be held invalid, the 

invalidity thereof shall not affect any of the other provisions of this Resolution. All 

ordinances, resolutions and motion in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the 

extent of such conflict.  

Section 7. Effective Date. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately 

after its passage and publication as provided by law. 

 

Page 131 of 191



DATE:

TO:

FROM:

RE:

1201

9/14/23

Trustees

Anna Amen

2023 Levy

NORTHBROOK
PUBLIC LIBRARY

Cedar Lane, Northbrook, IL 60062
847-272-6224

To prepare the 2023 Levy, the following information was reviewed
prior year revenue and expenditure data
compensation, equity, diversity and inclusion initiatives, strategic plan initiatives
facility plan
technology plan

Based upon this review we are estimating that a 3. 3% overall tax levy increase will allow
the Library to

provide annual wage increases and address any additional pay equity
considerations

cover insurance cost increases (medical, dental, vision, general, workers
compensation and unemployment)
focus on equity diversity and inclusion and strategic plan initiatives
provide services, materials (electronic and print formats) and programming (in
person, virtual, and hybrid) to patrons that they are accustomed
address building and technology issues that are part of the facilities plan
handle any unforeseen situations that may arise in the coming year

I have also provided the scenarios below for review at the September meeting
total levy remains flat
3% operating levy increase & a 2. 2% overall tax levy increase
4% operating levy increase & a 3% overall tax levy increase
4.4% operating levy increase & a 3.3% overall levy increase based upon estimate
5% operating levy increase & a 3. 9 overall tax levy increase

The Levy will be sent to the Village after the October Meeting

Page 132 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
Property Tax Levy History

Lev Year

2023 - 5% operating levy increase / 3. 9%
overall tax lev increase

2023 - based upon forecast - 4.4%
operating levy increase / 3.3% overall tax

levy increase
2023 - 4% operating levy increase / 3%

overall tax lev increase

2023 - 3% operating levy increase / 2.2
overall tax levy increase

2023 - total Ie remains flat

2022
2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013

Fiscal Year

24-25

24-25

24-25

24-25

24-25

23-24
22-23
21-22
20-21
19-20
18-19
17-18
16-17
15-16
14-15

General

8,528, 100

8,480, 000

8,446,880

8,365, 660

8, 158,550

8, 122,000
7,641, 000
7,439, 188
7,439, 188
7,479, 000
7,219,783
6,411,000
6,235, 000
6, 069, 135
6, 015, 000

IMRF

400, 000

400, 000

400, 000

400, 000

400,000

425, 000
425, 000
400, 000
490, 000
490,000
490, 000
475,000
470,000
440,000
410,000

FICA

280,000

280, 000

280,000

280,000

280, 000

289,000
289,000
289, 000
289,000
280, 000
280, 000
270, 000
265, 000
260,000
255, 000

Total
0 eratin

9, 208, 100

9, 160, 000

9, 126, 880

9, 045, 660

8, 838, 550

8, 836, 000
8, 355, 000
8, 128, 188
8,218,188
8,249, 000
7, 989, 783
7, 156, 000
6,970,000
6, 769, 135
6, 680, 000

Debt Service

758, 350

758, 350

758,350

758, 350

758,350

760,900
757,550
758, 249
527,476
528, 404
528, 137

1,016,420
1,010,891
1,008,141
1,019,486

Total Librar

9, 966, 450

9,918,350

9,885,230

9,804,010

9,596,900

9, 596, 900
9, 112, 550
8, 886,437
8,745,664
8,777,404
8, 517, 920
8, 172, 420
7,980,891
7, 777, 276
7,699,486

% Increase

3. 9%

3. 3%

3.0%

2. 2%

0.0%

5.3%
2. 5%
1.6%

-0.4%
3.0%
4. 2%
2.4%
2. 6%
1.0%
6.0%

Page 133 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
Operating Fund - Revenue

2023 Levy (FY2025) - Draft 1

Levy
Uncollectable Levy
Replacement Tax
Fines & Fees

Interest Income

Other Income - Gifts

Total Estimated Income

8,480, 000
(169, 600)
150, 000

35, 000
35, 000

100, 000

8, 630, 400

Total Expense 8, 629, 500

Surplus/(Deficit) 900

Page 134 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
General Fund - Expenses

2023 Levy (FY2025) - Draft I

Descri tion

PERSONAL SERVICES
Salaries and Wa es
Maintenance
Total Personal Services

FRINGE BENEFITS
Grou Insurance

Unemployment/
Worker's Corn

Training & Development

Total Fringe Benefits

COMMODITIES

Materials

Programs

Office & Libra Su lies

Software

Posta e

Community Relations

Janitorial Supplies

Total Commodities

CONTRACTUAL
OCLC
CCS Shared Costs

Photocopy

General Insurance

Tele hone

Medical, Dental, Vision, Life

Staff membership, Conferences,
Mileage, Anniversary Gifts, Staff day

Books, Ebooks, Periodicals, Audio
Visual, Videos/DVD's

FictionSe Media, Reference, Young
Adult, Youth Services, Maker
Sen/ices, Admin
Succlies less than $500

Blackbaud, Boopsie, Adobe, Getty,
3M, Evanced, Titlesource, Remote

Printing

Promotional items. Float,

Newsletters, Email marketing,
Northbrook Chamber, Rotary
Supplies, Paper, Chemicals,
Uniforms, Rugs, Paint, Filters,
Landscaping

Actual

3,617,765
177, 485

3,795, 250

648,701

25,075

28,819

702,595

Actual

3,544,727
149, 068

3,693, 795

654, 759

24,228

53,438

732, 425

R'23
Actual

3,920,270
172, 053

4,092,322

673, 498

26,047

58,301

757,845 $

FY24

Forecast

4, 298, 417
192,433

4,490,850

723, 373

24,393

59,438

807.205

nr 25

Levy

4,524,000
202, 000

4,726,000

795, 000

26,500

61,000

893,794 887,742 885, 993 944,000 982,000

75,024

70, 197

99,903

16, 801

34, 605

80, 588

60, 423

92,506

19,633

39,553

71, 125

56,483

92, 146

18,556

47,434

103,000

70, 000

109,252

18,330

49, 830

103,000

70, 000

108,000

20,000

55, 000

42, 115 45,728

$ 1,232,439 $ 1.226, 173 $

44, 678 45, 000 45, 000

1,216,415 $ 1,339, 412 $ 1,383,000

Copy machine lease payment,
Supplies & page charges, Coin op
lease payment. My PC lease
payment, Papercut lease payment,
SimpleScan lease payment

23, 735
79, 293

23, 328

25,204
79,011

25, 544

26, 683
78,410

24, 857

27, 269
75, 271

28,062

28,000
78,000

30, 000

General liability. Auto, Property,
Cyber, Flood
Phone lines. Fiber o tic cable

58, 129

48, 058

63,502

40,502

71, 158

36, 442

75, 180

37, 754

83,000

39,000Page 135 of 191



Northbrook Public Library
General Fund - Expenses

2023 Levy (Rf2025) - Draft I

Professional Services

Equipment
Rental/Maintenance

Vehicle Ex ense

Utilities

Building Repairs

Contracted Services

Descri tion

Attorney, Auditor, Independent
contractor (IT, EDI)

Piano, Laminator, Microfilm readers,
Computer switches, Postage
machine, Phone system. Binding,
AMH, RFID

Gas, Water, Garbage, Composting

HVAC, Elevator, Plumbing,
Electrical, Parking stops, Sprinklers,
Parking lot repairs, Curtain Wall

Alarm, Backflow service. Elevator,

Cleaning, Email, Snow removal,
Carpet cleaning, HVAC, Sprinkler

Recruitin
Total Contractual Services

CAPITAL OUTLAY

Furniture and Equipment Items greater than $500

Total Capital Outlay

OTHER
Contingency & Misc Exp
Net Loss on Investment

Board Development
Total Other

DESIGNATED EXPENSES

TOTAL EXPENSES BEFOI E TRANSFERS

TRANSFERS

Debt Service Transfer
Capital Improvements
Total Transfers

$

$

R'21

Actual

243,612

R'22
Actual

258,042

FY23

Actual

309, 174

R'24

Forecast

416,462

Rr25
Levy

402,000

4,436

18,710

133, 639

30,048

30,048 $

3,341
(1, 944)

216
1,613 $

26,637 46,468 42, 959 43,000

483

47, 123

465

48,549

810

50,656

586

51,827

3,000

53,000

39,082

139, 059

1,555

41, 207

144,868

33,000

145,028

30,000

146,000

$ 680,546 $ 747,153 $

56,837

56,837 $

7, 147
(222)
502

7,428 $

420 1,000
831, 155 $ 933, 397 $ 936, 000

30, 722 50, 000 50, 000

30. 722 $ 50, 000 $ 50, 000

9,739 100,000 100,000

74, 930 $ 89, 569 $

$ 6,517, 421 $ 6,553,380 $

16, 150 20,546
1, 115,000 1,270,000

$ 1. 131, 150 $ 1,290,546 $

620 2,000
10,359 $ 100,000 $ 102,000

108,970 $ 100,000 $ 100.000

7.047,788 $ 7,820,864 $ 8, 179,500

12, 554 $ 25, 000 $ 25,000
1,210, 000 $ 425, 000 $ 425, 000

1.222.554 $ 450,000 $ 450,000

TOTAL EXPENSES $ 7,648, 571 $ 7,843, 925 $ 8.270.343 $ 8,270. 864 $ 8,629, 500

Page 136 of 191



 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Memorandum 

 

DATE: 9/14/23 
 
TO: Board of Trustees  
  
FROM: Kate Hall, Executive Director  
 
RE: Class 6B Requests 
 
In your packet is a class 6B Request.  As stated from Cook County The Class 6b 

classification is designed to encourage industrial development throughout Cook 

County by offering a real estate tax incentive for the development of new industrial facilities, 

the rehabilitation of existing industrial structures, and the industrial reutilization of 

abandoned buildings. The goal of Class 6b is to attract new industry, stimulate expansion 

and retention of existing industry and increase employment opportunities.  

 

When a business in Northbrook submits a request to the Village, each taxing body has the 

opportunity to weigh in on whether the Village Board should recommend it to the County.  

Ultimately, the Library Board has no authority on whether this is approved, but provides 

feedback to the Village on whether it should be recommended to the County.   

 

Page 137 of 191

https://prodassets.cookcountyassessor.com/s3fs-public/form_documents/cls6bb.pdf


  

 

 

TRANSMITTAL 
 

TO:  SCHOOL DISTRICT 225 
  SCHOOL DISTRICT 27 
  NORTHBROOK PARK DISTRICT 
  NORTHBROOK PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 
FROM: Jonathan Mendel, Director of Development & Planning Services 
 
DATE:  September 7, 2023 
 
The Village of Northbrook has received the attached request for a Class 6b Tax 
incentive from 3075-3085 Commercial Realty Associates, LLC. (the “Applicant”) as the 
contract purchaser of the property commonly known as 3075-3085 Commercial 
Avenue (the “Subject Property”). 

A general location map is shown below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1: Location – 3075-3085 Commercial Avenue  
 
In accordance with the Village’s general procedures for the review and approval of 6b 
tax incentives, the local school districts, park district and public library are given the 
opportunity to review and comment on this request.   
 

Village President 
Kathryn L. Ciesla    
                     
Board of Trustees 
Muriel J. Collison 
Joy U. Ebhomielen 
Johannah K. Hebl 
Robert P. Israel  
Daniel H. Pepoon 
Heather E. Ross 
                                                       
Village Clerk 
Debra J. Ford     
                         
Village Manager 
Cara L. Pavlicek 
 
 

Page 138 of 191



 
The Village Board of Trustees is scheduled to preliminarily review this request at its 
September 12, 2023 meeting.  The Applicant plans to purchase the Subject Property 
to expand their IL based facilities to Northbrook, in addition to retaining their current 
Lyons, IL facility. 
 
Please see the attached request submitted by the applicant, as well as the material 
we have prepared for our Board of Trustees during preliminary review.  
 
If you wish to have the Village Board review the comments from your taxing district, 
please forward them to me by October 9, 2023. 
 
Note: In 2022 with Resolution 22-R-33, the Village revised our Class 6b review 
process shortening the length and adjusting the timing for your taxing district’s review.  
This review period is now 30 days, runs parallel with the Board of Trustees preliminary 
review and ending prior to the formal Board of Trustees review. 
 
If you have questions of the Village regarding the application, please contact me at 
jonathan.mendel@northbrook.il.us.   
 
Questions of the applicant should be directed to: 
 
Kevin A. Griffin 
Eugene L. Griffin & Associates, Ltd 
29 North Wacker Drive Suite 650 
Chicago, IL 60606 
P: 312-855-5012 
E:  kagriffin@griffinlaw.com 
 
Please keep me informed of when your Board is scheduled to consider the request, 
and if you would like the Applicant to attend the meeting.    
 
We look forward to receiving your Board’s comments.  
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Jonathan Mendel, AICP 
Director of Development & Planning Services 
Village of Northbrook, IL 

Page 139 of 191

mailto:kagriffin@griffinlaw.com


  
 

 
  DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 
 

 Page 1 

MEMORANDUM  
VILLAGE OF NORTHBROOK 

TO:  CARA PAVLICEK, VILLAGE MANAGER 

FROM: JONATHAN MENDEL, DIRECTOR 

DATE:  SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 

SUBJECT:  INITIAL BOARD REVIEW – 3075-3085 COMMERCIAL AVENUE IN THE I1 
RESTRICTED INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT - COOK COUNTY 6B PROGRAM 
REQUEST 

 
Introduction 

For Board of Trustees preliminary consideration is a request by 3075-3085 Commercial Realty 
Associates, LLC. (the “Applicant”) as the contract purchaser of the property commonly known as 
30875-3085 Commercial Avenue (the “Subject Property”) of a Class 6b Tax incentive.  

The Applicant plans to purchase the Subject Property to rehabilitate and partially occupy the 
existing 39,039 square foot building with their company ResinTech, Inc.  The total estimated cost 
of the project is $1,105,000 improvements and $2,825,000 purchase price.  

The Applicant is also known as the ResinTech Inc., was founded in 1986 in New Jersey and is a 
nationwide wide company requesting this as part of their IL expansion from their current Lyons, 
IL location.   

The Subject Property was built in 1978, needs improvements/modernizing and has unoccupied 
and on the market since June 2022. 

The Applicant seeks preliminary Board comments on the feasibility of Village support for a Class 
6b incentive.  We have attached the application materials submitted by the Applicant, as well 
relevant background material assembled by the Village Staff concerning the property and the 
County 6b program.   

Note: following proposed exception for this 6b application request: 

 The Applicant asks for relief from the Village’s prohibition on appealing property 
assessment during the 12 year 6b period that would result in a property value less that 
the first year valuation of the Class 6b schedule. 

o This is a substantive deviation from the Village’s standard practice and long-
standing 6b policy. The Applicant states that they are concerned this would be a 
complete forfeit of its rights to appeal a future assessment. 

Property/Building Description 

Key information concerning the property is summarized below: 

 The Subject Property has been 100% unoccupied and has been actively marketed as 
available for sale and lease for approximately 14 months. 

 The 39,039 sqft building is 45 years old and primarily a flexible light industrial/office one-
story building 

 The Subject Property is zoned I-1 Restricted Industrial and not within the floodplain. 

Page 140 of 191



 Page 2 

 The Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map designates the Subject Property and 
immediately surrounding properties to the north, east, south and west as General 
Industrial, Warehouse & Office. 

 The property is located in Elementary School District 27 and High School District 225. 

The 6B Program 

The Cook County Class 6b program reduces the overall property tax bill for industrial and 
warehouse buildings over the course of 12 years.  Under the program, properties are assessed 
based on the following schedule: 

 at 10% of market value for the first 10 years,  

 15% in the 11th year, and  

 20% in the 12th year.   

 In year 13, the property reverts to the normal assessed value of 25% of market 
value. 

Real estate is eligible for Class 6b status if it is used primarily for “industrial purposes” and is 
either:  

(a) new construction,  

(b) substantial rehabilitation of a building, or  

(c) occupation of an “abandoned” property.   

The below table summarizes the overall impact over the 12-year lifespan of the 6b program (2024-
2035) assuming if the 6b was approved, not approved but occupied by the applicant and the 
property tax savings for the applicant if the 6b was approved 

Estimated Taxes 
Paid over 12 Years 
New Building With 

the Class 6b 

Estimated Taxes 
Paid over 12 years 

New Building 
Without The Class 

6b 

 
Estimated Savings 
in Property Taxes 

over 12 years 

$846,832 $1,881,849 $1,035,017 

 

Estimated Taxes Paid over 12 Years New Building with the Class 6b – $846,832 

Estimated Taxes Paid over 12 years New Building without the Class 6b – $1,881,849 

Estimated Savings in Property Taxes over 12 years – $1,035,017 

 

Village Procedures for Processing Class 6b Applications 

The guidelines consist of three basic categories: 

1. Economic & Fiscal Impacts of the Business on the Community (50% consideration) 

2. Conditions of Existing Building/Site and Private Financial Contribution Compared to Public 
Assistance (30% consideration) 

3. Quality of Jobs Created (20% consideration) 

In addition, bonus consideration of up to 5% can be awarded due to environmental features of 
the proposed business.  When the Village Board established these eligibility guidelines, they were 
adopted as general guidelines as a way for the Board to evaluate requests.   

Page 141 of 191



Page 3 

Staff has transmitted the Applicant’s request to the applicable taxing districts for their 30 day 
review and comment period as established by Resolution 22-R-33.  Their comments will be 
provided during the formal Board of Trustees review.  

Summary 

Staff suggests the Board of Trustees focus on the following questions when reviewing this 
request: 

 Does the Applicant’s Class 6b request satisfy the general Cook County criteria for the
approval of a Class 6b incentive for the rehabilitation of an existing building?

 Does the Applicant’s 6b proposal satisfy the general Village criteria for the approval of a
6b incentive, given the two requested reliefs

o Relief from the Village’s bar on appealing property assessment during the 12 year
6b period?

 Is the incentive appropriate to encourage the rehabilitation of the existing unoccupied
39,039 sqft building for a new tenant/business for the Village of Northbrook?

The Applicant and staff will be present at the September 12, 2023 meeting to answer any 
questions from the Board. 

Page 142 of 191



PRELIMINARY REVIEW 
COOK COUNTY 6B PROGRAM REQUEST: 3075-3085 COMMERCIAL AVE 

APPLICATION SUMMARY 

Applicant: 3075-3085 Commercial Realty Associates, LLC 

Site Location: 3075-3085 Commercial Avenue 

Requested Action: Resolution supporting and consenting to a Cook County Class 6b incentive 

Proposal: Resolution from the Village of Northbrook supporting and consenting to a 
Class 6b tax incentive for New Construction. 

Existing Zoning 
& Land Use: 

Surrounding Zoning & 
Land Use: 

Comprehensive Plan 
Designation: 

I1 – Vacant Industrial Building 

North: I-1 Restricted Industrial
South: I-1 Restricted Industrial
East: I-1 Restricted Industrial
West: I-1 Restricted Industrial

General industrial, warehouse &office 

 

ZONING MAP 

SUBJECT  
PROPERTY 

Page 143 of 191



2 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP 

Page 144 of 191



3 

AERIAL MAP 

Page 145 of 191



Street view from Commercial Ave Looking South 

 

Page 146 of 191



Street view from Academy Dr. Looking Northeast 

Page 147 of 191



Page 148 of 191



Page 149 of 191



Page 150 of 191



Page 151 of 191



Page 152 of 191



Page 153 of 191



Page 154 of 191



Page 155 of 191



Page 156 of 191



Page 157 of 191



Page 158 of 191



Page 159 of 191



Page 160 of 191



Page 161 of 191



Page 162 of 191



Page 163 of 191



Page 164 of 191



Page 165 of 191



Page 166 of 191



Page 167 of 191



Page 168 of 191



Page 169 of 191



Page 170 of 191



Page 171 of 191



Page 172 of 191



Page 173 of 191



Page 174 of 191



Page 175 of 191



Page 176 of 191



Page 177 of 191



Page 178 of 191



Page 179 of 191



Page 180 of 191



Page 181 of 191



Page 182 of 191



Page 183 of 191



Page 184 of 191



Page 185 of 191



Page 186 of 191



Page 187 of 191



Page 188 of 191



Page 189 of 191



BOARD FEEDBACK RESULTS FROM STAFF

Month/Year: 9/2023

Questions for Board of Trustees

● What made you want to join the library board? Do you think those motivations

still drive your actions and decision-making? Why or why not?

● Can you describe what ways the library board has tried to build trust and/or

connection with staff to this point?

● How do you balance the needs and desires of the community with staff’s

well-being when making decisions for the library? Do you prioritize one group

over the other?

● How does the library board intend to promote and support the library’s ongoing

EDI work?

Feedback for Board of Trustees

● Staff wanted to express their appreciation for the support and trust the board

has in staff. In the current political climate where some library boards are

unsupportive and, sometimes, antagonistic to library staff, we are fortunate to

have a board that trusts staff to do our work and also shows up for and

represents the community in a thoughtful way.

● Staff recognize that the board had a different experience than staff did with The

Blackberry Collection, and ultimately it was the board’s decision whether or not

we continue to work with TBC, however, the way the situation was handled

made staff feel that their contributions and feedback during the TBC assessment

were not valued or even acknowledged by the library board, leading to some of

the distrust that staff is feeling.

● Staff would like to the library board to remember that we are individuals, not an

amorphous group. The hierarchical structure of the library means that all the

information that is passed between the library board and staff is funneled

through the Executive Director. Without building rapport with staff as

individuals, some of the context behind that information might be lost in that

exchange. The hierarchy also means that there will always be some level of

Page 190 of 191



distrust because of the amount of power the board holds. Building a rapport

with staff and being open to feedback and potential criticism would go a long

way to building trust.

Page 191 of 191


	3.1 September 2023 Agenda.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	3.3 Cash Balances & Income Statement August 2023
	3.4 Approve Bills and Charges from August 2023
	3.5 2024 Closing Schedule
	3.6 Employee Handbook Policy Updates
	3.6.a 03.1 Vacation clean
	3.6.b 03.1 Vacation
	3.6.c 05.4 Association Memberships 09.2023 clean
	3.6.d 05.4 Association Memberships 09.2023
	3.7.a LIMRiCC Resolutions Memo
	3.7.b LIMRiCC IGA Resolutions & Ballots 
	5.a Director's Report September 2023
	5.b August 2023 Collaboratory Report
	5.c August 2023 Public Comments
	7.3 Book Sanctuary Resolution
	8.1 FY24 Tax Levy Draft
	8.2.a Class 6B Memo
	8.2.b Class 6B 3085 Commercial_20230907_full packet
	Transmittal_to_Tax_Districts_3075-3085 Commercial_20230907.pdf
	0 - 6B Staff Report 9-12-23_prelim_3075-3085 Commercial.pdf
	TO:  CARA PAVLICEK, VILLAGE MANAGER
	FROM: Jonathan Mendel, director
	DATE:  SEPTEMBER 12, 2023
	SUBJECT:  INITIAL BOARD REVIEW – 3075-3085 COMMERCIAL AVENUE IN THE I1 RESTRICTED INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT - COOK COUNTY 6B PROGRAM REQUEST

	1 - 3075-3085 Commercial Ave - Application Summary, Aerials Site Photos.pdf
	applicant submittal_class 6b request_20230821.pdf

	8.3 NPL Board Feedback 23_09




